Integrating LSVT BIG with Drama Therapy: Improving Motor Coordination in Adults with
Autism Spectrum Disorder

Lauren Ebidia

A Research Paper in The Department of Creative Arts Therapies

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts Concordia University Montreal, Quebec, Canada

July 2, 2019

© Lauren Ebidia, 2019

CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

School of Graduate Studies

This researc	ch paper prepared
By:	Lauren Ebidia
Entitled:	Integrating LSVT BIG with Drama Therapy: Improving Motor Coordination in Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder
and submitte	ed in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of
	Master of Arts (Creative Arts Therapies; Drama Therapy Option)
-	ith the regulations of the University and meets the accepted standards with respect y and quality as approved by the research advisor.
Research Ac	dvisor:
Yehudit Silve	rman, MA, R-DMT, RDT
Department	Chair:
Guylaine Vai	illancourt, PhD, MTA
	July 2019

ABSTRACT

INTEGRATING LSVT BIG WITH DRAMA THERAPY: IMPROVING MOTOR COORDINATION IN ADULTS WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER

LAUREN EBIDIA

This research paper employs the first two stages of intervention research to conceptualize a theoretical intervention that addresses a lack of research in terms of demographic (adults) and impairment (motor deficits) for people with autism spectrum disorder. The resulting intervention is an integration of LSVT BIG with drama therapy to improve motor functioning for adults with autism spectrum disorder, in the hopes of also improving the participants' quality of life as a result. The data that informs the intervention is collected via an integrative literature review which looks at motor functioning in autism spectrum disorder, the use of LSVT BIG to improve the identified motor deficits, and the integration of drama therapy to improve the adaptability of the intervention and address both physical and emotional well-being. Implications for this population, the field of drama therapy, and future research is discussed, as are the limitations of this research. A consensus from the literature is that there is a lack of services available to adults with autism spectrum disorder, leaving them with fewer opportunities for improving their quality of life. This intervention research seeks to highlight this issue, and provide examples of programming that can be easily adapted to meet the needs of this population and inspire the creation of more diverse programming in the future.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to my research adviser, Yehudit Silverman. Your feedback and support were greatly appreciated.

Thank you to my parents, Joe and Karen.

Table of Contents

Introduction	6
Methodology	8
Intervention Design Methods	8
Data Collection and Procedure	9
Data Analysis	10
Position of the Researcher	11
Literature Review	12
Autism Spectrum Disorder	12
Lee Silverman Voice Treatment Program - BIG	14
Drama Therapy	17
Findings from the Literature Review.	23
Discussion	24
Intervention: Integrating LSVT BIG with Drama Therapy to Improve Motor Coordina Autism Spectrum Disorder	
Problem Theory	25
Program Theory	25
Purpose and Design	26
Interventions	30
Conclusion	35
Implications	36
Limitations	37
References	39

Introduction

According to the National Autism Spectrum Disorder Surveillance System (NASS) 2018 Report, approximately 1 in 66 children and youth are diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder (ASD) in Canada (Ofner et al., 2018). Males are often diagnosed four times more frequently than females (Ofner et al., 2018). According to the survey, a majority of children received a diagnosis by the age of eight years old (Ofner et al., 2018). ASD is a developmental disorder as it affects brain development, which results in language and communication impairments, social impairments, and restricted and repetitive patterns of behaviours (e.g., hand flapping) or interests (Autism Canada, 2018; Ofner et al., 2018). It is referred to as a "spectrum" as each individual is unique in the symptoms he presents (Ofner et al., 2018). Approximately 40% of individuals with an ASD may also experience an intellectual disability (ID), though there are others who maintain an average or even superior intelligence quotient (IQ) (Perkins & Berkman, 2012).

According to the 2018 NASS report, the prevalence of ASD increased between 2003 and 2015 (Ofner et al., 2018). It is unknown whether this increase is due to environmental factors that could be contributing to the development of the disorder, or if there has been an increase in awareness of ASD among society which has led to better and earlier detection and diagnosis of the disorder (Perkins & Berkman, 2012). Regardless, while the number of individuals with ASD continues to grow, there is a substantial lack of support in terms of resources and programming to meet the needs of these individuals (Autism Ontario, 2019). What is more, most research and program development is focused towards children and youth on the spectrum, leaving the adult population under-researched and with even fewer resources, despite the fact that it is important to continue to provide opportunities for development even in adulthood (Happé and Charlton, 2011; Shattuck, Roux, Hudson, Taylor, Maenner, & Trani, 2012). This has, in turn, led to a challenging transition from childhood to adulthood (18 years of age and older) for individuals with ASD, as they may suddenly experience a lack of available support and resources (Happé and Charlton, 2011). There is a significant need for more services that can support adults with ASD.

In terms of the services that are already out there, most interventions created for individuals with ASD are geared towards addressing the social deficits they may experience, as these are often the "defining feature" of the disorder (Bhat, Landa, & Galloway, 2011). However, another

characteristic that is often overlooked but should be addressed in more interventions is motor functioning (Bhat, Landa, & Galloway, 2011). Both children and adults with ASD may experience the following challenges with their motor functioning:

- Poor upper- and lower-limb coordination in terms of bilateral movements and eye hand coordination
- Poor fine motor skills, such as grasping objects
- Stereotyped and repetitive movements, such as rocking back and forth or hand flapping
- Poor postural control, which can affect the individual's gait and balance
- Impairment in the ability to imitate movements and sequences of movements

(Bhat, Landa, & Galloway, 2011).

Bhat, Landa, & Galloway (2011) identify the need for more embodied interventions for this population that can address these motor deficits through movement-based learning. The 2018 Canadian consensus guidelines on the appropriate primary care for adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities offer recommendations for individuals with an intellectual or developmental disability (IDD) on the types of health care that would be most beneficial for them (as well as can be adapted to meet their needs) (Sullivan, et al., 2018). The guidelines advocate for the need for more physical activity interventions, as physical inactivity is prevalent among this population (Sullivan et al., 2018). Likewise, Happé and Charlton (2011) report through their review of literature that maintaining physical health and agency may lead to healthier agency, and they apply this philosophy to individuals with ASD. Physically active programming could prove to be beneficial in helping individuals to further develop their motor skills, as well as provide benefits in other areas, such as mental health.

Anxiety and stress have been identified as being highly prevalent in adults with ASD, likely because, due to the nature of ASD, these individuals lack the coping skills to be able to manage these challenges (Gillot & Standen, 2007). Anxiety disorders specifically identified include panic and agoraphobia, separation anxiety, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and generalized anxiety disorder (Gillot & Standen, 2007). Anxiety among this population may also be linked with their motor functioning, as they may worry about their balance and falling, and having to rely on others to help them move means a loss of independence. The 2018 Canadian consensus guidelines on the appropriate primary care for adults with IDD also reports on mental

health, stating that poor mental health for this population is often attributed to sensory impairments, negative life experiences, and a lack of support and coping skills (Sullivan, et al., 2018). In response, these guidelines provide a number of recommendations, one of which is the use of alternative therapeutic interventions, which include art, music, and drama therapies, due to their holistic nature (Sullivan, et al., 2018).

In response to the need for more interventions that address the motor functioning and mental health of adults with ASD, this author proposes a theoretical intervention that is movement-based. This intervention will work as a combination of a physically active program which is designed for helping adults to develop their motor skills, with drama therapy, an embodied therapy that is holistic in its approach to treatment.

Methodology

The framework of intervention research will be used to examine how the principles of the Lee Silverman Voice Training BIG program and the therapeutic core processes of drama therapy might integrate to form an intervention that may help to improve the motor functioning, and therefore, quality of life in adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). Intervention research provides a basis for addressing the gaps in literature regarding the treatment of motor deficits in adults with ASD, as identified by Starkstein, Gellar, Parlier, Payne, and Piven (2015). Intervention research involves identifying a problem theory (i.e., risk factors), and uses further research to inform a possible treatment program that acts as a change strategy for the risk factors and can potentially benefit this population (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). The purpose here is to create change that seeks to have a positive impact on, in the case of this study, the motor functioning and quality of life in adults with ASD (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). This creation and implementation of a "change strategy" is the foundation of intervention research (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010)

Intervention Design Methods

This intervention research will address the first two steps as outlined by Fraser and Galinsky (2010). The first step is to develop problem and program theories, which involves identifying risk factors and malleable mediators (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). This research looks at how motor deficits in adults with ASD may be a risk factor for experiencing a lower quality of life. The "malleable mediators" include those factors related to the risk factor that may be

influenced or changed through the intervention process (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). For example, the malleable mediators of this intervention may include working towards improving specific qualities related to motor functioning, such as balance, or self-esteem and social competencies. The first step also includes identifying the intervention level, such as at the group level, and intervention agents, such as a certified LSVT BIG clinician and a registered drama therapist working cooperatively. This information is then organized into a model that will inform the actual design of the intervention and individual sessions.

The second step of intervention research deals with the design of the intervention. This involves identifying the goals, structure, and content of the actual sessions. The design is very much informed by previous interventions examined through the literature review, specifically those involving LSVT BIG, and drama therapy for adults with ASD. This may help to ensure reliability and validity, as by following only the first two steps of intervention research, this intervention remains untested and therefore theoretical. The insight gained from coding the data from the literature and integrating it with theory, such as the therapeutic core processes, may also help to ensure validity, as the intervention will be grounded in theory. The process of the intervention and guidelines for sessions are described so that this intervention is made accessible for interested practitioners and to inspire much-needed further research.

Data Collection and Procedure

In intervention research, much of the data that supports the intervention is produced from previously published research and theory (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). Therefore, an integrated literature review will provide the data that will inform the design of the intervention program. An integrated literature review involves critiquing existing literature, making connections, and developing new ideas about the topic so as to provide a direction for future research (Toracco, 2016). The structure of an integrated literature review is similar to that of telling a story in how it begins with critique and ends with the researcher drawing her own conclusions (Toracco, 2016).

The literature consists mainly of online and printed works. The majority of online sources are comprised of peer-reviewed journal articles, including quantitative and qualitative research such as case studies and literature reviews. These resources were searched through online databases such as those linked with the Concordia University Library and Google Scholar. This included Scopus, ProQuest, and PsycINFO. Resources are searched by using a "funneling" system – starting out with general search terms, and then moving to more specific. LSVT BIG,

motor functioning and ASD, therapeutic core processes in drama therapy, and quality of life are the most general terms relating to the research question that provide a beginning direction for the literature review. The common themes revealed during this process then inform further, more specific research. Resources are collected based on their relevance to the research question, i.e., if they contain the aforementioned key words or phrases, and if the themes provide evidence for how the literature might inform the conceptualization of this intervention program. This is further explained in data analysis.

Data Analysis

Bullet-point notes are taken of each of the resources collected. Summaries are then created from these notes. These summaries are written in a way that allows the author to reflect on the information presented, and to draw connections. These summaries, therefore, act as analytic memos for the author, linking coded data and helping to create insight (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). This allows themes to emerge more easily through an open coding process (see Table 1). Themes will be identified using a coding scheme based on different colours highlighting the overarching categories (see Table 2).

Table 1.

Emerging Themes

Main Topic	Resulting Themes	
LSVT BIG	Amplitude	
	Exaggerating Movements	
	Habitual Practice/assimilation	
Motor Functioning	Biological links between ASD and	
	Parkinson's disease (PD)	
	Gait, balance	
Drama Therapy Core Processes	Play	
	Role	
	Life-Drama Connection	

Quality of Life Phy	Physical and emotional well-being	
Imp	portance of support system	

Table 2.

Coding Scheme

Colour	Main Topic
Orange	Therapeutic core processes of drama therapy
Green	Motor functioning and LSVT BIG
Yellow	Links between motor functioning in ASD and Parkinson's disease (PD)
Pink	Quality of life

Position of the Researcher

As the researcher, I acknowledge my own biases, assumptions, and experiences that influence my research into this topic, such as how I perceive the data, and the decisions made regarding the design of the intervention. I must first acknowledge the most significant assumption that I have, which is that having a motor deficit means experiencing a lower quality of life. I also acknowledge my assumption that the principles of LSVT BIG are adaptable and teachable to other populations. My perception of this topic is very much influenced by my own experiences working with adults with ASD and other developmental disabilities. I have witnessed how motor deficits within this population, such as challenges with balance or walking in a toe-heel pattern, have led to a loss in confidence, feeling of safety, and independence. I am also influenced by my educational background and personal experiences in theatre. I acknowledge that I hold beliefs in theatre's ability to heal, and the positive contributions that theatre can make to individuals, communities, and society.

11

Literature Review

The main themes explored by the researcher throughout the literature include motor symptoms in Autism Spectrum Disorder and the links with Parkinson's disease, the Lee Silverman Voice Treatment – BIG program as an intervention for treating motor symptoms, and the therapeutic core processes in drama therapy that may prove useful for an integrated intervention program.

Autism Spectrum Disorder

Definition of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is defined as a pervasive developmental disorder involving deficits in areas such as social interaction, communication, learning, and sensory processing (Chasen, 2014). Stereotyped and repetitive behaviours and interests are often associated with ASD (Lubetsky, Handen, & McGonigle, 2011). As this is a spectrum, other diagnoses that are categorized under this umbrella term include autism, Asperger's disorder, and pervasive developmental disorder – not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS) (Lubetsky, Handen, & McGonigle, 2011). Diagnosis of an ASD usually occurs between the ages of four and six, with symptoms appearing as early as infancy (Lubetsky, Handen, & McGonigle, 2011). Many interventions for ASD involve addressing the social and communication aspects of the disorder, as seen in the treatment models of Chasen (2014) and Lubetsky, Handen, and McGonigle (2011). As a result, a characteristic of this disorder that is often overlooked is motor functioning (Bhat, Landa, & Galloway, 2011). Bhat, Landa, & Galloway (2011) argue that motor learning principles should be incorporated more into interventions designed for ASD, as deficits in this area are prominent for this population (Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, & Cauraugh, 2010).

Motor functioning in Autism Spectrum Disorder. Noterdaeme, Wriedt, and Höhne (2009) examined the cognitive, language, and motor profiles of children with Asperger's disorder and high-functioning autism. The motor profile assessment was based upon fine motor skills, gross motor skills, coordination, balance, and oral motor skills (Noterdaeme, Wriedt, & Höhne, 2009). The results showed a similar motor profile shared between the two autism spectrum disorders, with deficits experienced by 53% of children with Asperger's disorder, and by 43% of children with high-functioning autism (Noterdaeme, Wriedt, & Höhne, 2009). The results of a previous study, which looked at motor coordination in these populations, were also

cited, showing motor deficits to be present in 50% of people with Asperger's disorder, and in 66.7% of people with high-functioning autism (Noterdaeme, Wriedt, & Höhne, 2009). These results show a clear need for interventions geared towards motor functioning in this population. Yet, Noterdaeme, Wriedt, and Höhne (2009) did not further analyze the motor profile in the discussion section of their study, as they did with the cognitive and language profiles. In not doing so, the need for further research into the motor functioning of this population was once again overlooked, and an opportunity for further recommendations was unfortunately missed.

Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, and Cauraugh (2010) do identify, through a meta-analysis of different studies surrounding ASD and motor functioning, that deficits in motor skills should be considered as a significant characteristic of this disorder. Due to inconsistencies in results from different studies, motor functioning has often been overlooked, but by performing this meta-analysis, the researchers prove that the prevalence of motor skills deficits in this population is significant enough for it to deserve more attention (Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, & Cauraugh, 2010). Further recommendations for potential future interventions included focusing on improving gait, balance, arm functions, and movement planning (Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, & Cauraugh, 2010). In their discussion, the researchers mention similarities in gait that have been found between Parkinson's disease (PD) and autism in previous research (Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, & Cauraugh, 2010). This suggests that interventions designed for improving motor functioning in individuals with PD may be useful as well for those with ASD.

Bhat, Landa, and Galloway (2011) identify the similarity in gait between PD and ASD as the "Parkinsonian gait". They identify the similarities as including a longer stance duration, shorter stride lengths, lack of heel-toe pattern, and reduced upper-limb movement (Bhat, Landa, & Galloway, 2011). They hypothesize that these similarities are due to similar impairments in the basal ganglia, which facilitates motor functioning, or a mutation of the PARK2 gene associated with PD being present in ASD as well (Bhat, Landa, & Galloway, 2011). Again, the importance of including more interventions that address motor deficits in adults with ASD is stressed by these researchers (Bhat, Landa, & Galloway, 2011).

Starkstein, Gellar, Parlier, Payne, and Piven (2015) also identify this "Parkinsonian gait" seen in adults with ASD. As well, they identify that high rates of PD exist among individuals with ASD over the age of 39 (Starkstein, Gellar, Parlier, Payne, & Piven, 2015). PD often goes undiagnosed in this population due to types of medication consumed, lack of verbal

communication, or motor deficits being regarded as a symptom of the ASD (Starkstein, Gellar, Parlier, Payne, & Piven, 2015). Again, these researchers recommend that future interventions take into account the similarities between PD and ASD, and that those with ASD may also experience symptoms of PD (Starkstein, Gellar, Parlier, Payne, & Piven, 2015). An intervention such as the Lee Silverman Voice Treatment - BIG program, designed for adults with PD, may therefore prove to be an efficient intervention program for adults with ASD experiencing those symptoms targeted by this program.

Lee Silverman Voice Treatment Program - BIG

The Lee Silverman Voice Treatment (LSVT) program was initially developed for the treatment of speech and vocal functioning in individuals with PD, and expanded to include motor functioning as well (LSVT BIG) (Fox, Ebersbach, Ramig, & Spair, 2012). Individuals with PD often exhibit hesitant, slow, and small movements (Fox, Ebersbach, Ramig, & Spair, 2012). The main focus of the LSVT BIG program is amplitude rather than speed, to develop bigger and more precise movements which will naturally lead to increased speed (Fox, Ebersbach, Ramig, & Spair, 2012). The program works to change the individual's perception of his movements, as individuals with PD often do not notice that their movements are small (Janssens, Malfroid, Nyffeler, Bohlhalter, & Vanbellingen, 2014). The exercises are high in intensity and are repetitive, increasing the individual's awareness to the effort required to produce the larger movements (Fox, Ebersbach, Ramig, & Spair, 2012). This in turn is believed to help the individual assimilate this kind of movement into his life, which would ultimately lead to more long-term benefits (Fox, Ebersbach, Ramig, & Spair, 2012). The program takes place for one hour, four days a week, over a four-week period (Janssens, Malfroid, Nyffeler, Bohlhalter, & Vanbellingen, 2014). Even with the high-intensity nature of the program, it does seem questionable whether or not participants are able to successfully make these movements more habitual over such a short period of time.

Janssens, Malfroid, Nyffeler, Bohlhalter, and Vanbellingen (2014) present three case studies incorporating LSVT BIG, specifically targeting gait, balance, bed mobility, and dexterity, for individuals with PD. The effects of LSVT BIG on these specific aspects of motor functioning had not previously been examined, and as they may influence quality of life, Janssens, Malfroid, Nyffeler, Bohlhalter, and Vanbellingen (2014) argue for the importance of looking at these functions specifically. Overall, they found that the individuals in the case studies showed

improvements in gait, balance, and bed mobility (Janssens, Malfroid, Nyffeler, Bohlhalter, & Vanbellingen, 2014). Challenges with gait and balance are also observed in individuals with ASD, suggesting that LSVT BIG may be a beneficial treatment program, if it can be adapted.

Is LSVT BIG adaptable for individuals with ASD? Participation in the LSVT BIG program ultimately depends on the individual's ability to follow the movements of the instructor, essentially imitating them. This may prove difficult for individuals with ASD, specifically those with autism. Rogers, Cook, and Meryl (2005) claim that individuals with autism have an impairment in their ability to imitate the body movements of others. They suggest that this may be due to impaired functioning of the mirror neuron system, which is involved in the imitation and understanding of movements and actions (Rogers, Cook, & Meryl, 2005). Hamilton, Brindley, and Frith (2007) disagree, refuting the hypothesis that individuals with ASD have an impaired mirror neuron system. However, they did exclusively examine hand gestures as opposed to full body movements, and suggest that different types of imitation may be linked with different neural systems as opposed to just mirror neurons (Hamilton, Brindley, & Frith, 2007). Therefore, it is still unclear whether or not individuals with ASD would find it challenging to imitate the movements of the program instructor, and also have an understanding of the importance of these movements. Understanding the purpose of the exercises and the importance of generalizing them to their daily lives is important in order for participants to experience more long-term effects of the program.

Chasen (2014) claims that mirror neurons do play an important role in an individual's ability to imitate the movements of others as well as identify the goals and intentions of those movements. Chasen (2014) does write about reports of an impairment in the mirror neuron system of individuals with ASD, and how this may also be the reason for impaired social interactions. However, Chasen (2014) suggests that drama therapy may be a useful method for engaging the mirror neuron system due to its holistic approach, and that drama therapy and the mirror neuron system are similar in that they work to develop better understanding (of the self and others) through imitation and re-enactments. The end-goal for both is preparing the individual to "act" in the real world (Chasen, 2014). While Chasen (2014) uses this connection to focus on developing treatment plans for addressing social competencies, the same principle could possibly be applied to this intervention research. Drama therapy, when combined with the

LSVT – BIG program, may improve the adaptability of the program for working with individuals with ASD.

Another method that may be useful in making the program more adaptable is one used by Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block (2018) in their suggested programming that works to overcome barriers that may be faced by adults with ASD, enabling them to participate in more physical activity programming. Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block (2018) work from the International Classification of Function, Disability, and Health (ICF model) framework, which essentially helps caregivers identify any challenges that an individual with ASD may face when participating in physical activities. This framework then helps to develop a more tailored program that overcomes these challenges so that the individual may participate (Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block, 2018). The IFC model looks at three dimensions – body functions and structures, activities, and participation (Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block, 2018).

Body functions and structures includes those physical, cognitive, or sensory impairments that may make it difficult for an individual to participate in daily activities or programming (Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block, 2018). Activities are those that the individual can perform on their own, such as those that are part of everyday living (Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block, 2018). Participation includes the access that the individual has to programming and their engagement in these programs if they are available (Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block, 2018). These three dimensions are then affected by environmental and personal factors, such as accessibility barriers or financial strain (Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block, 2018).

The IFC model looks at the interaction of all of these different components, and from there, solutions to any barriers may be formed and a successful program addressing these barriers can be developed (Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block, 2018). Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block (2018) provide an example, where an individual with ASD participating in an exercise program may have difficulty following the verbal and non-verbal cues of the instructor. This is overcome by providing the individual with a picture chart of the routine, where the different steps are outlined for them, and they can practice the routine at home (Bishop, Nichols, McIntire, and Block, 2018). A similar process can be done for the LSVT BIG program.

The IFC model will be a useful tool in the development of this intervention program, as it will ensure that the program is accessible and can be tailored to the needs of each participant, which is helpful in addressing the fact that ASD is a spectrum disorder.

Drama Therapy

Drama therapy involves the use of dramatic processes and exercises in order to achieve personal growth (Emunah, 1994). It follows a psychotherapeutic framework while employing theatre techniques such as puppets, masks, improvisation, role-play, etc. to explore the therapeutic material (Emunah, 1994). The nature of drama therapy makes it both flexible and adaptable for all populations. Drama therapy is a holistic and developmental process, integrating the multiple aspects of an individual's well-being, allowing the client to make connections and achieve new insight which she may apply to life outside the therapeutic space (Chasen, 2014).

Drama therapy is an embodied therapy, meaning it looks at how the mind and body interact with each other to influence the well-being of the client (Koch & Fuchs, 2011). Embodiment is a common form of expression in drama therapy, where the body is seen as a more "direct and immediate medium of communication than speech" (Milioni, 2008, p. 5). When the body becomes involved in the therapeutic work, the way that the client experiences and explores her personal material may change, as it adds a new dimension to the process (Milioni, 2008).

Koch and Fuchs (2011) suggest a bi-directional link between the mind and body, meaning that they each affect one another. Motor functioning may influence the perception of emotions, as well as attitudes and behaviours (Koch and Fuchs, 2011). For example, taking on a dominant versus a submissive posture can influence how one views herself, thereby affecting self-esteem (Koch and Fuchs, 2011). Working from this framework, it is suggested that how the participants of the LSVT BIG program perceive themselves and their situations could affect how successful they are in the program, specifically regarding their motivation to participate and their belief in positive change being achievable. Drama therapy could help the participants regarding their attitude towards the program and their progress. As well, combining a physically active program like LSVT BIG with an embodied therapy like drama therapy would be better suited for the clients as it allows them to stay in their bodies. Working in one medium and then having to switch to another exclusively, such as talk therapy, would be disadvantageous for the participants as it disregards the holistic quality of the process (Milioni, 2008).

Benefits of drama therapy. Modugno, Iaconelli, Fiorilli, Lrna, Kusch, and Mirabella (2010) performed a pilot study where theatre was used as a complementary therapy to physiotherapy for individuals with PD. The theatre techniques used included role play through improvisation and sketch work (Modugno et al., 2010). The rationale was that through role play

and taking on a new character, the individual becomes more aware of his own movements, and how to control and adapt these movements to represent the character's (Modugno et al., 2010). This program also allowed for the rehearsal of situations on stage that could occur in real life (Modugno et al., 2010). This use of role play and improvisation could be integrated with LSVT – BIG so that participants in the program could practice larger movements in different situations, which could help with assimilating these movements into their daily lives.

While this pilot study was not using drama therapy specifically, these techniques are often employed by it, and so this suggests that drama therapy can be integrated with a program like LSVT BIG to help improve motor functioning. The pilot study did show positive improvement in terms of both psychological and physical symptoms, but these results were not seen until two to three years into the program (Modugno et al., 2010). LSVT BIG is designed as a four-week program, which suggests that the high-intensity nature may help to speed up the process and achieve faster results. As previously stated, it is still questionable whether long-term effects are maintained after only a month-long program, but drama therapy may improve participant engagement with the exercises, helping them to become more habitual within this short amount of time.

In looking at drama therapy specifically for individuals with ASD, research has shown benefits in areas such as social skills development, emotional expression, reduction in anxiety, and confidence and self-esteem (Godfrey & Haythorne, 2013). While this does not specifically address motor functioning, it does not mean that it is entirely unrelated. Modugno et al. (2010) outlines the connection between those psychological symptoms that are often associated with motor impairments, such as anxiety and depression. Individuals who are dependent upon others to help them with movement tend to lose their full range of motion, but in drama therapy, clients are encouraged to move creatively and interact with their environment and the therapist, and the benefits can be physical, emotional, and social (Chesner, 1995). This leads to the assumption that by using drama therapy, theatre techniques can be employed to help improve motor functioning, and a therapeutic space is also provided to discuss or also explore through theatre those psychological symptoms.

Modugno et al. (2010) also identifies the importance of having a support system and how not having one can be detrimental towards one's psychological health when dealing with symptoms of PD (2010). This is further supported by Waite (1993), who found that drama

therapy in a group setting for adults with developmental disabilities benefited their self-esteem and allowed them to support one another. The group therapy setting reinforces the idea that these individuals are not alone in their experiences, and provides them with a support system if they did not have one (Waite, 1993). Waite (1993) also found that many participants expressed feelings of shame surrounding the ways they talk, walk, and act, and so movement exercises were used in sessions to bring them back into their bodies in a playful and non-judgmental space, allowing them to experience themselves in new ways. This is related to the change in perspective that the LSVT – BIG program tries to instil in its participants – encouraging them to challenge their views on how they move. Waite found that after using these movement exercises as warmups, the participants felt more comfortable in their bodies (1993).

The therapeutic core processes. Phil Jones (2007) identifies those core processes that work in combination to make drama therapy effective. Through the coding process, those core processes that were most apparent in the literature were play, role, and the life-drama connection.

Play. Jones (2007) describes play as the method by which individuals in drama therapy can take their personal experiences and bring them into the dramatic space to manipulate them, test them, and master them. Using play in the therapeutic context is beneficial for mastery of a skill or experience as it allows for exploration without the fear of doing wrong or making a mistake (Ward-Wimmer, 2003). Play is an alternative and creative method for dealing with personal conflicts, and interacting with one's personal experiences through play in therapy allows him to reflect on them, which could result in finding new meaning and perspective (Jones, 2007). A change in perspective is again an important theme in the LSVT BIG program. Play allows the participant to take a step back from reality and create his own "alternative reality", which, in doing so, allows for safer exploration and a greater sense of control (Ward-Wimmer, 2003, p. 31).

Interacting with the material in this proposed integrated program through play may encourage a stronger connection; rather than just imitating exercises, using play to engage with the learned movements could help participants acquire a better understanding for why these movements are important. The intervention would support the function of the mirror neuron system as it would integrate the body and mind as a whole, which is the nature of play (Ward-Wimmer, 2003). Play also encourages spontaneity, which may allow for participants to engage with the learned movements in a more natural way (Jones, 2007). Play would also benefit the

participants' mental health, as it can increase self-esteem and reduce stress, in addition to the aforementioned therapeutic benefits (Ward-Wimmer, 2003). Developing self-esteem and managing stress levels are important elements in ensuring participation in this intervention.

Role. "Roles can be played to rehearse life situations, to practice or develop skills or personal qualities..." (Jones, 2007, p. 192). This quote explains how role can be used to help with the assimilation of the learned movements in LSVT BIG into daily life. Role is one of the primary mediums of expression in drama therapy (Landy, 1990). It acts as a "container" for those characteristics that make up the self and may be explored in the therapy space (Landy, 1990, p. 223). Individuals with developmental disabilities tend to have very limited role repertoires in their life, and so in the context of drama therapy, different forms of expressions and new opportunities for exploration can be achieved through playing out a variety of different roles (Chesner, 1995).

Landy (1990) writes of Stanislavski's proposed planes of a role, and how the influences of these different planes integrate to form a role. The psychological and physical planes, for example, look at how internal feelings and emotions as well as physicality can influence the characterization of a role (Landy, 1990). This is again representative of the holistic nature of drama therapy. Characterization of a role based on one plane, such as physical, may influence another plane, such as psychological, and vice versa. Landy (1990) provides an example of a client exploring a role where his internal feelings of isolation and of feeling small influence the physical characterization of the role through the client's gait. How one feels and how one moves are inextricably linked, which is why it is beneficial to include an embodied therapy, such as drama therapy, as part of a program that focuses on improving motor functioning.

Role encourages playfulness and improvisation, and taking on a role could encourage one to be more aware of her movements, thereby gaining more control of them (Jones, 2007; Modugno et al., 2010). Role may also be useful in addressing the participants' emotional well-being which may be linked to their motor functioning, such as by allowing them to embody and practice skills like confidence (Jones, 2007). Confidence is an example of a quality that can be both seen and felt, as feeling confident tends to be associated with bigger movements, such as those that are taught in LSVT BIG. This could help improve self-esteem, and make the participant more aware of how she is holding herself (Jones, 2007). Improving the participants' body awareness is key in helping them to change their habits. In the context of drama therapy,

the therapeutic work comes from being able to reflect upon the role and consider what was learned, and how this might apply to life outside the therapeutic space (Jones, 2007). This could help with assimilating what is learned in LSVT BIG into the participants' daily lives.

Life-drama connection. Jones does not afford the same in-depth discussion regarding this core process as he does with play and role, but this may be the most significant process involved in therapeutic change. The life-drama connection involves the individual being able to draw connections between what is happening in the dramatic reality and her own life (Jones, 2007). This allows the individual to apply any new insight she may have gained in the therapeutic space to her life outside of the therapy – this is how the therapeutic change and personal growth happens. Play and role, while providing some distance between the client and the material he is exploring, may end with the client discussing the process with the therapist and noticing those qualities or instances that are reflective of himself or his experiences (Landy, 1990). This usually takes place during the closure of the session, where the client de-roles from the play. One of the goals during this time is to assist the client in recognizing and applying the insight gained throughout the session to his own life outside of the therapy space (Emunah, 1994). It is a time for review, sharing, reflection, and validation, which can be more beneficial in a group therapy setting (Emunah, 1994).

However, this is dependent upon the client's ability to make those connections for herself. If she is unable to do so, then any insight she might have gained remains in the therapeutic space, and change cannot occur (Jones, 2007). The life-drama connection is an important step for helping clients of the integrated LSVT BIG and drama therapy program to gain a better understanding of their movements and how their motor functioning has affected their mental well-being. This would support the end-goal of making these learned movements, which should in turn have a positive effect on the participants' mental health, more habitual for the participants, but it does depend on their ability to make those connections for themselves.

Drama therapy and quality of life. The quality of life in adults with ASD is defined as the extent of opportunities they have in life based on the limitations they experience (Sicile-Kira & Sicile-Kira, 2012). A research study conducted from the Quality of Life Research Unity at the University of Toronto also found that the quality of life of people with developmental disabilities is directly related to how independent they are and how much agency they have (Sicile-Kira & Sicile-Kira, 2012). These characteristics of quality of life are broken down further through eight

domains: emotional well-being, interpersonal relationship, material well-being, personal development, physical well-being, self-determination, social inclusion, and rights (Renty & Roeyers, 2006). A majority of these domains could be addressed through LSVT BIG and drama therapy together. There is a connection between one's physical and emotional well-being. An issue with the body will most likely have a negative impact on the mind, and vice versa (Young & Wood, 2017). By integrating drama therapy with LSVT BIG, a more holistic approach in treating both the motor and non-motor symptoms in adults with ASD is achieved. For example, it is more constructive to improve quality of life when working on both posture and confidence at the same time rather than separately.

Renty and Roeyrs also identify the importance of a support system and the role it plays in an individual with ASD's quality of life (2006). They further claim that it is not the extent one's disability that affects their quality of life, but rather his interactions with his external environment (2006). Sicile-Kira and Sicile-Kira (2012) also claim that quality of life is influenced by both personal and environmental factors, and that quality of life can be enhanced by providing individuals with more practical and emotional support. This could be addressed through the offering of a group therapy setting.

Drama therapy has been shown to effectively improve the quality of life in adults with physical limitations. Mechaeil, Graybow and Cobham (2010) saw how the positive effects of drama therapy were sustained throughout the sessions when working with people with dementia, such as in posture. Yuen, Mueller, Mayor and Azuero (2011) also saw how incorporating theatre techniques into treatment improved the physical and mental well-being of adults with chronic conditions. However, the long-term effects are not noted, as Yuen, Mueller, Mayor and Azuero recommend a three-month follow-up for future researchers (2011). It is difficult to say with certainty whether or not drama therapy can lead to more prolonged benefits from the intervention, but the hypothesis is that drama therapy techniques will encourage individuals to engage with their physicality in new ways, which may improve the probability of experiencing positive therapeutic change.

Drama therapy is effective with populations experiencing physical or cognitive limitations because it is a holistic process that can be easily adapted to meet the needs and abilities of the population. The literature has shown that when drama therapy techniques are incorporated into a treatment program, they have led to positive results. Therefore, integrating

drama therapy with LSVT BIG programs to treat the motor symptoms of adults with ASD may be beneficial in creating more long-term effects, while addressing the mental and emotional wellbeing of the participants as well.

Findings from the Literature Review

There is a consensus among the studies that further interventions need to be developed for adults with ASD that address challenges they experience other than in the social context (Bhat, Landa, & Galloway, 2011; (Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, & Cauraugh, 2010). Motor functioning in adults with ASD is often overlooked and under-researched, but deficits are common, specifically in terms of gait, balance, posture, and movement coordination and planning (Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, & Cauraugh, 2010). Similarities have been found between the motor deficits experience by people with ASD and people with PD, specifically in their gait, which had lead to this deficit in people with ASD as being labelled the "Parkinsonian gait" (Bhat, Landa, & Galloway, 2011; (Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, & Cauraugh, 2010). This suggests that the LSVT BIG program, designed to improve motor functioning in people with PD, can be beneficial for adults with ASD experiencing similar motor deficits as well. This raises the question of whether or not the LSVT BIG program can be adapted for adults with ASD so that they may benefit.

The literature suggests that when combined with drama therapy, LSVT BIG may be more adaptable. This is because the holistic and flexible nature of drama therapy makes it easier to overcome barriers faced by the participants (Chasen, 2014). Likewise, drama therapy engages the mirror neuron system, which may help to ease the challenge of imitating movements that people with ASD may experience (Chasen, 2014). Drama therapy would serve as a beneficial complementary therapy to LSVT BIG with its use of play, role, and work towards making the life-drama connection, helping to make the learned movements of the LSVT BIG program more habitual and normalized. Incorporating therapy with LSVT BIG is also beneficial as the literature suggests a strong connection between the mind and body (Koch and Fuchs, 2011). As a result, the combination of LSVT BIG and drama therapy as an intervention may help to improve the overall quality of life of adults with ASD.

Discussion

The literature review identifies the risk factor (motor deficits) faced by this population, which could be addressed by the formation of a new intervention. This intervention will be working under the assumption that poor motor functioning leads to a lower quality of life, and therefore the hypothesis is that by improving motor functioning in adults with ASD, their quality of life will improve as well. By identifying the mind-body connection as being significant in the holistic treatment of an individual, the literature suggests that a strong intervention would be one that addresses both the mental and physical experiences of the participants. The intervention would also work under the assumption that by incorporating drama therapy, participants could potentially be able to more easily imitate the movements of the LSVT BIG program.

The findings suggest that drama therapy could potentially be beneficial as a complementary therapy to LSVT BIG, meaning that the overall structure of the intervention would follow that of an LSVT BIG program, while mostly incorporating drama therapy exercises and principles into the individual sessions. While following the LSVT BIG outline, certain structural aspects could be unique to this intervention, such as the length of sessions (i.e., will need to be longer to accommodate for more play time in the drama therapy context), and using a group setting as opposed to an individual setting. Again, this is because of the benefits of group therapy identified in the literature (Waite, 1993). Drama therapy exercises that emphasize the core processes of play and role will be suggested, as the literature suggests these to be the most beneficial in the therapeutic process in the context of this intervention. Likewise, time will need to be set aside in each session for discussion and reflection, so as to strengthen the life-drama connection, which was explained in the literature review to be most beneficial in helping to normalize and make habitual what was learned in the intervention, which could in turn make it more easily applicable to the participants' daily lives.

Intervention: Integrating LSVT BIG with Drama Therapy to Improve Motor Coordination in Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder

A proposed, theoretical intervention integrating drama therapy with LSVT BIG is outlined in the following section. As stated in the methodology section of this research paper, this intervention is theoretical as it only addresses the first two steps of intervention research, and has not yet been pilot-tested (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). The first two steps involve identifying problem and program theories, and the design of the program (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010).

Problem Theory

Problem theory in intervention research involves identifying risk factors that may be experienced by the population that the intervention is targeted towards (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). These risk factors are specifically identified based on whether they can be changed through the intervention (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). The main risk factor identified for this intervention is that motor function deficits are experienced by a large number of individuals with a diagnosis of ASD, specifically regarding gain, balance, upper-body movements, and movement planning (Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, & Cauraugh, 2010). These motor function deficits are similar to those experienced by individuals diagnosed with PD. These deficits may be a risk factor for a lower quality of life for the affected individuals with ASD, affecting such domains as emotional well-being and social inclusion. This intervention research assumes this risk factor to be "malleable", as it assumes that motor functioning in this population can be improved, thereby improving quality of life.

Program Theory

Program theory in intervention research involves pairing the identified risk factors with possible change strategies – that is, those actions in the intervention design that may help participants to achieve positive results (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). In the case of this intervention research, the change strategy being examined is the application of a program (LSVT BIG) that has been used to improve the motor deficits in individuals with PD, to improve the motor deficits in individuals with ASD through the use of intensive and high-effort exercises that focus on increasing amplitude of movement, which in turn improves speed and posture (Gusé, 2016).

The second part of this change strategy is to use the principles of drama therapy to help participants with the integration of the techniques used in LSVT BIG into their daily movements. Drama therapy will also be used to further examine how the motor functioning of the participants

has affected the other domains of their quality of life, and how this might be improved in a therapeutic context. The integrative literature review outlines the benefits that play, role, and the life-drama connection in drama therapy can have on both the physical and mental well-being of participants due to its focus on the mind-body connection.

Purpose and Design

The purpose of this intervention is to fill the gaps in the available literature on the subject of motor functioning in individuals with ASD, and answer the call for more interventions for this population that deal specifically with this deficit. As discussed in the integrative literature review, motor functioning in adults with ASD is often overlooked in research, as more focus is spent on other aspects of the diagnosis, such as social competencies. Studies examined in the literature review have shown motor functioning to also be a prominent factor for adults with ASD, and therefore deserving of more attention and research. Ultimately, the purpose of this proposed intervention is to provide positive benefits for adults with ASD, both in terms of their motor functioning and their quality of life. In doing so, this could lead to further development of similar interventions.

Intervention goals. A long-term goal of this intervention is for participants to integrate the techniques practiced through the LSVT BIG portion of the program into their daily lives, making the learned movements more habitual. Another long-term goal would be for participants to increase their confidence and self-esteem, which will hopefully result in greater autonomy and improved quality of life. Short-term goals of this intervention are outline in Table 3.

Table 3. *Short-term goals.*

Beginning Phase of	Middle Phase of	Later Phase of Intervention
Intervention	Intervention	
Develop sense of comfort and	Develop routine for	Normalizing those bigger
trust working in a group	practicing movements at	movements.
setting.	home.	
Examine personal goals for	Becoming more aware of	Reflecting on progress made
hierarchy tasks.	kinesthetic sense – building	and making connections to
	awareness of the position and	life outside of the program.

	movement of the body	
	(Farnell, 2003).	
Moving in to dramatic play.	Moving into role play for	
	practicing hierarchy tasks.	

The therapists. This intervention program requires the collaboration between a drama therapist and a certified LSVT BIG clinician. A drama therapist has received a Master's level education involving coursework in psychology and drama therapy, as well as practical experience through internships (North American Drama Therapy Association, 2019). A registered drama therapist is one who is certified by the North American Drama Therapy Association (NADTA) by achieving the requirements in both education and client-contact hours, and adheres to the NADTA Code of Ethics (North American Drama Therapy Association, 2019). A certified LSVT BIG clinician is a physical or occupational therapist that has undergone the certification program in LSVT BIG, trained in the LSVT BIG principles (Gusé, 2016).

The role of the therapists is to first and foremost, support each other when leading the specialized interventions. When the LSVT BIG clinician is leading exercises, the drama therapist should be observing the participants and assisting with modelling the exercises. Likewise, when the drama therapist is leading an intervention, the LSVT BIG clinician should be observing and participating as well. This is relevant to the next role of the therapists, which is to provide good modelling for the participants, and clear instructions supported by this modelling. This is especially important when working with individuals with ASD, as the research outline in the literature review suggests there may or may not be an impairment in the mirror neuron system for this population. This in turn may make it more challenging for them to copy the movements of others and understand the purpose of these movements and what they may convey (i.e., how movements can be used to convey emotional expression or characteristics such as confidence) (Chasen, 2014). Participation by the therapists may also be helpful in motivating the participants, but it is important to afford the participants some autonomy throughout the process, especially in the therapeutic context. Personal growth comes from the participants' ability to reflect and make connections on their own.

As this is a collaborative process, the LSVT BIG clinician and drama therapist must plan the sessions together. Since this is a developmental process for the participants, the interventions used by the drama therapist must be relevant to and incorporate the LSVT BIG exercises that are being taught in the same session. This will support the long-term goal of making the learned techniques from LSVT BIG more habitual for the participants.

The client. This intervention program is designed for adults with ASD who experience difficulties with their motor functioning; this may include challenges with their gait, posture, balance, etc. A diagnosis for PD is not necessary, as it often goes undiagnosed in this population, and would therefore limit the accessibility of this intervention program (Starkstein, Gellar, Parlier, Payne, & Piven, 2015). As motor deficits commonly associated with PD become most prominent for the individual at around age 39 years, this intervention program is specifically for adults (Starkstein, Gellar, Parlier, Payne, & Piven, 2015). However, there may be young adults between the ages of 18-30 who are experiencing motor deficits that are having a significant negative impact on other aspects of their well-being, and so this program's availability should be based on individual case severity as opposed to age requirements.

The client may be referred to the program by a health care professional or social worker; part of the basis for this referral is that the client needs to be able to do the exercises, meaning there are no medical conditions present that could prevent them from participating (LSVT Global, 2019). The drama therapist and LSVT BIG clinician should have final say on whether or not the program is appropriate for the individual. The individual should be able to participate in a group-setting and not be aggressive towards others. Participants who may require extra support from a personal support worker (PSW) should be allowed to have their PSW accompany them in session. The structure of this program will be similar to that of a regular LSVT BIG program, which requires a commitment from the participants as it takes place four days a week for four weeks (Janssens, Malfroid, Nyffeler, Bohlhalter, & Vanbellingen, 2014).

Because there are therapeutic interventions being used, informed, written consent will need to be given by the participant before the start of the program. An ethical consideration is that for those participants unable to give informed consent based on literacy skills, should the written consent of their caregiver be accepted instead? Gillot and Standen (2007) accepted caregiver consent on behalf of some participants in their study, and claimed that the participants' behaviour and affect were observed for any signs of distress, which would be interpreted as them

rescinding their consent to participate. As this intervention deals greatly with movement, another ethical consideration would be how to address touch in sessions. Participants may need hands-on guidance, so a contract on how touch may be used in sessions, such as to help participants, would have to be negotiated by the group with the clinicians.

Setting and materials. The sessions should take place in a large, open space that allows for moving around the room with ease. The space should also be large enough so that the personal space of each participant will be respected, and each participant can easily perform the exercises without colliding with one another. LSVT BIG does not often utilize many materials, but providing a chair for each participant is required so as to practice functional component tasks (i.e., everyday tasks the client does) such as moving from a sitting position to a standing position (Gusé, 2016). Providing chairs also makes the programming more customizable to the abilities of a client, as the exercises can be done from a seated position at the beginning (Gusé, 2016).

The drama therapist may use materials that will assist the participants in their play and practice of their skills learned through the LSVT BIG portion of the session. For example, scarves or fabric may be used by the participants to help them with practicing to move "bigger" as they can swing them around. Introducing masks and taking on characters through role play may help raise the awareness of the participants to their own bodies and how they need to adjust their movements to match the role they are trying to portray. Everyday items may be used as props so that the participants may practice a daily activity while applying their learned skills. For example, providing kitchenware as props could be helpful for a participant whose goal is to be able to prepare a meal (Gusé, 2016). The materials that the drama therapist should provide will be very much based on the goals of the participants and what it is they want to improve on specifically.

Session structure. The program will respect the structure of LSVT BIG sessions but will integrate drama therapy techniques into the session and exercises. Sessions will take place four consecutive days a week for four weeks. LSVT BIG sessions normally run for one hour, but as a therapeutic component is being integrated into the program, the integrated sessions will run for an hour and a half so as to allow time for reflection and closure. The group should consist of a maximum of eight clients, with the two therapists leading the group. This number ensures that all participants are seen and have the space to contribute to the session, making this time more productive and beneficial for them (Chesner, 1995). Group drama therapy will normally consist

of a warm-up, main enactment, and closure, and it may also be helpful to use arrival and departure rituals when working with adults with ASD (Chesner, 1995). Arrival and departure rituals help the participants know what to expect and where to go, as the times before and after the group are often unstructured and have loose boundaries (Chesner, 1995). This structure can be incorporated with LSVT BIG, as the exercises will take place as the main enactment of the session.

The first session should provide time for developing a group contract that is agreed to by all members. The group contract will ensure that all members feel safe and respected by outlining rules or boundaries. Confidentiality is an important aspect of therapy, so including this on the contract will help ensure that whatever personal material someone brings to the group will stay within the therapy space. Touch is also a factor, as some people may be uncomfortable with others touching them and perceive touch to be invasive (Milioni, 2008). This is especially true for vulnerable populations or for people who have little control over their own bodies (Milioni, 2008). Boundaries would need to be set regarding what kind of touch is allowed, if at all.

The last three sessions should provide time for processing the end of the program, helping the participants to transition from the group and apply what they have learned to their lives outside of the program (Emunah, 1994). It is a time for celebrating the accomplishments of the participants in regards to the work they did to help themselves and improve their lives (Emunah, 1994). It is also a time for review and discussion of progress made towards goals (Emunah, 1994). Using a therapeutic framework to address the termination of the program will be especially important, as this period tends to bring up difficult emotions and may also result in some participants regressing (Kleinberg, 2012).

Interventions

Arrival and departure rituals. These rituals are a small way of providing structure when participants arrive at or leave the session in order to make transitions easier and reduce anxiety (Chesner, 1995). These rituals can be simple, such as the *Circle Link* for arrivals and *Goodbye Shout* for departures (Chesner, 1995). The Circle Link involves coming together as a group and holding hands (if the group contract permits it; an alternative would be to connect the group by each person holding a piece of fabric between themselves and the person next to them), making eye contact to acknowledge who is there (Chesner, 1995). This also provides a nice transition into the check-in activity, *Sound and Movement*. Making eye contact may be difficult

for some individuals, but it will still be effective for them to join the circle with the rest of the group. The group comes together again in the same way for the *Goodbye Shout* at the end of the session, where everyone shouts "goodbye" together while raising their arms. This reflects the principles of LSVT BIG, as it encourages big movements from the group in raising their arms.

Check-in. Sessions should open with a short check-in activity so the clinicians may get a sense of how each individual in the group is feeling, and what the overall energy of the group is. A good check-in for this physically active program would be the *Sound and Movement* check-in. It is advantageous because it does not require verbal communication and it starts to move the participants more into their bodies, preparing them for the rest of the session. For this check-in, the group may sit or stand in a circle, and, one at a time, each participant will produce a short sound and movement that represents how they are feeling (Chesner, 1995). The rest of the group can then mirror this sound and movement back to the person, which builds group cohesion and validates how each person is feeling (Emunah, 1994; Jones, 2007). It can create insight for the individual, seeing his expression reflected back to him (Jones, 2007).

Warm-up. LSVT BIG sessions usually begin with *maximal daily exercises* (Gusé, 2016). These exercises act as the foundation for producing movements that are higher in amplitude, and work to improve the participant's mobility in all planes of movement (i.e., forwards, backwards, sideways, and diagonally) (Gusé, 2016). These exercises may involve, for example, a forward step, reach to the side, or reaching from floor to ceiling, and are usually performed in repetitions of eight, though this can be adjusted to accommodate the ability of the participant (Gusé, 2016). These exercises usually begin as sustained movements, meaning that the posture is held for about ten seconds (Gusé, 2016). For example, when reaching to the side, the participant would hold that reaching position for ten seconds. This encourages "bigger" posture, as well as helping with stretching (Gusé, 2016). These exercises then move into more repetitive movements, which encourage participants to develop their directional changes, starting and stopping of movements, and completion of movements (Gusé, 2016). These repetitions last for ten seconds (Gusé, 2016). Maximal daily exercises end with rocking and reaching movements, which work to improve balance and range of motion, as the participant may change their weight distribution from one foot to the other, as well as do twisting movements (Gusé, 2016).

An activity that is used in drama therapy that works very similarly to this is *Statues*, which emphasizes balance and motor control (Chesner, 1995). This incorporates the core process

of play, as it involves using music and dance, and freezing in a characteristic and playful position. As the music plays, the participants move or dance around the room, and then when the music stops, they must freeze into a pose (Chesner, 1995). By encouraging playfulness here, the participants may feel more comfortable creating bigger, more exaggerated poses to match the energy of the game. *Statues* incorporates the principles of the *maximal daily exercises*, by encouraging the sustainment of big postures, maintaining one's balance, and starting and stopping movements.

Main enactment. The next focus in the LSVT BIG sessions is on *functional component* tasks. These are everyday tasks that the participant does, usually a sequence of movements, such as moving from a sitting to a standing position, or walking and turning around (Gusé, 2016). These tasks are performed in session using more amplitude, making them bigger, and practiced multiple times to try and normalize these bigger movements for the participant (Gusé, 2016). Play can be used to assist with this, as it provides context for exaggeration. For example, the therapist could use an imaginary remote that may control the movements of the participant like it would a television. The therapist could ask the participant to complete a functional component task as if they were in the slow-motion sequence of an action movie, or use the remote to "pause" the participant in their movements, or speed up or slow down the participant's movements. Introducing character masks into the session may also help the participants to become more aware of their body and their movements, as they try to embody a role that the mask may prompt. This encourages participants to think more about how their character would move, and therefore adjust their own movements in the process. To prep participants for getting into the role, Landy (1991) would ask participants to focus on one part of their body, and from that part extend a movement, and then allow that movement to grow further until a character emerges. This could assist with improving the participants' kinesthetic sense, as it encourages them to be more aware of each of their body parts, as well as how they are being moved.

Hierarchy tasks are the last activity of the main action of the session (Gusé, 2016). These are the long-term goals for the participants – the activity that they would like to be able to do by the end of the program, such as prepare a meal or walk the dog (Gusé, 2016). These tasks develop throughout the sessions, usually split into smaller steps, increasing in complexity as the sessions progress (Gusé, 2016). Clients could role play these scenarios, allowing them to practice their movements and play out how they would overcome any challenges. It may also be helpful

for them to role play the task as someone else in their lives, highlighting for them the differences between how they would move to perform the task, and how someone else would.

Hierarchy tasks involve having the movements mapped out (blocking) and practiced first, without using any materials (Gusé, 2016). *Join the Scene* is a drama therapy activity that would be suitable for this step, as it involves miming an action to start off a scene (Emunah, 1994). Once someone in the group knows what the action is, they may join the scene and contribute to the action, either through speaking or miming as well (Emunah, 1994). This would be a helpful intervention, as participants could be directed to act out the task they are working towards, allowing them to practice by blocking their movements (Gusé, 2016). It will also require them to be mindful of their movements, as others in the group will need to be able to guess what they are doing so that they can join the scene. If the participant is using very small movements or is moving too slow, it may make it difficult for the rest of the group to guess what they are doing; they will be encouraged to use bigger movements to make it more obvious. As the sessions progress, the work done on the hierarchy tasks becomes more complex, and props can be introduced and scene work can take place.

The main enactment of the session is when most of the therapeutic work takes place, as the participants are working on more personal and meaningful material with the hierarchy tasks. While the drama therapy interventions suggested thus far assist with the goals of the LSVT BIG program, interventions should also be put in place to help the participants process any feelings they may experience when playing, especially if they are becoming more aware of their body and how they are moving. Role can be used again to incorporate both movement and feeling, reinforcing the mind-body connection. For example, when discussing goals at the beginning of the program, participants could play out how they feel now versus how they want to feel at the end of the program, such as the timid self versus the confident self. Participants would then reflect on how these roles may look and feel different, which may motivate the participants even further as they want to embody that role that looks and feels better.

Emotional Statues is another activity that could reinforce the mind-body connection and encourage clients to be aware that the way they move can affect how they feel. This is an adaptation of the exercise described by Emunah (1994). The therapist would give the group a direction on how to move, such as shuffling feet, hunched over, marching, etc. The group would then be asked to freeze in these positions, and when tapped by the therapist, express the emotion

they feel associated with this position. The spontaneity of this exercise may invoke the expression of emotions by the participants that they were not previously aware of. Again, by noticing if certain movements invoke more positive emotions, this may further motivate the participants to integrate the skills learned through LSVT BIG into their daily lives.

Closure. LSVT BIG sessions end with an activity called *walking BIG* (Gusé, 2016). This is a time for participants to walk around the space and practice using bigger steps and arm swings (Gusé, 2016). The purpose is to help normalize these bigger movements for the participants, though it may feel awkward at first (Gusé, 2016). Using play can help diffuse some of these awkward feelings and provide context for moving bigger. *Dodging* is an activity which requires the participants to move around the room quickly, taking up as much space as they can without colliding with anyone else (Emunah, 1994). This concept of taking up space will encourage participants to move bigger, and will help them to be "walking Big". Scarves or streamers are also a useful tool for playing with movement, as they encourage exploration of the different directional planes, and require big movements to create a fluid motion (Chesner, 1995).

The closure in a drama therapy session is also a time for reflection and making the life-drama connection. The therapeutic work that has taken place that day is discussed in the group, once the play is over and the group members have been de-roled (i.e., a ritual for coming out of a role one played and returning to oneself) (Emunah, 1994). It is during this time that participants may gain insight about what they have explored in the session, and how they might incorporate this progress or any positive changes into their lives outside of the therapy space (Emunah, 1994). An example could be participants noticing how much more confident they felt with a sustained, bigger posture, and so they may feel more motivated to continue practicing their LSVT BIG skills.

It can be therapeutic for the group to end the session with a ritual, such as *Magic Box*. It is an activity that encourages personal reflection, as an imaginary box is used to "contain" any personal material from the session that the participants would like to leave there (Emunah, 1994). This may include fears, emotions, wishes, or insights that they made (Emunah, 1994). This symbolic act of leaving something heavy behind, like a difficult emotion that came up for the participant in the session, in a safe, contained space can help to provide some relief (Emunah, 1994). In the closure for the very last session, there should be a ritual that reviews the work that was done, as well as a ritual that celebrates the participants and allows them to say a proper

goodbye to the group and the program (Emunah, 1994). This last session should focus on the life-drama connection, and how it is important for participants to transition out of the group and retain the insight they gained throughout the therapeutic process to create positive change in their own lives.

Conclusion

This intervention research is still in the theoretical stages of development. Its effectiveness is hypothesized, but cannot be known for certain without following the next steps of intervention research, which involve first pilot testing the program, and then moving on to efficacy testing under more realistic conditions in different settings (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). There are a number of considerations for the implementation of this program. There may be accessibility issues faced by the participants, relating to financial capabilities, transportation, and scheduling concerns. As this program is short and intensive, it requires a commitment from the participants to attend every session, and this may not be possible for some. Applying for grant funding for the program may help to reduce the cost for the participants, but it may prove difficult to ensure attendance from all participants for the length of the program. This intervention study assumes that the structure of LSVT BIG programming – four days a week for four weeks – will be as effective for the population of adults with ASD. This structure may need to be reconceptualized once evaluated through pilot testing.

This intervention is intended for delivery in a group setting. A group of individuals who have shared similar experiences can be validating, supportive, and insightful. By watching someone else explore a conflict they are having, another group member may be able to relate and see a part of themselves in this (Jones, 2007). It is also useful to receive feedback from other group members, who may have noticed something that the protagonist did not (Jones, 2007). Working with a group in drama therapy is also useful when doing role play, as members can step in to play different roles, which can allow the protagonist to step out of role and observe the action from the outside, which again may spark insight (Jones, 2007). LSVT BIG programming is designed for a 1:1 interaction between the clinician and the client (Gusé, 2016). This is so that more attention can be given to the individual client's goals, as well as making it easier to adapt the program to the needs and abilities of that client (Gusé, 2016). Implementing this program in a group setting does, unfortunately, make it less specific to the clients' needs. However, the group

is still small, with no more than eight participants suggested. This can lead to further challenges though, as smaller groups mean there are fewer opportunities to participate if the demand for this program is high.

Another consideration has to do with making the program accessible by allowing personal support workers (PSW) to assist participants in the session if needed. While this does have the benefit of providing more individual support for participants that need it, it presents an issue of inviting these workers who are not participants, and not the clinicians running the session, into the therapy space. This could make participants uncomfortable with sharing personal material, or feeling like it cannot be a true, confidential therapeutic space. The clinicians will have to decide how they want to integrate the PSW into the group to make it more comfortable for the participants.

Working with adults with ASD also includes working with their support team, which may include their social worker, educator, caregiver, etc. Due to the limitations that may arise for participants if using a post-survey method of evaluation for the intervention, members of their team will also need to provide feedback on any changes or growth they have noticed in the individual. These limitations may be related to the participants' literacy and verbal communication. If verbal interviews or written responses are not feasible, there are other methods to help these individuals provide feedback on their experience, such as the use of applications designed for people with ASD that are downloadable for tablet devices, which help the user to communicate.

Implications

There is a lack of available programming for adults with ASD, as well as a lack of funding for this programming, as reported by Autism Ontario (2019). In the experience of the author, this tends to result in long waitlists and limited access to services that could be beneficial for the population. The more programming that is specialized for this population, the better. Fournier, Hass, Naik, Lodha, and Cauraugh (2010) identified motor deficits as being a common feature of ASD, calling for future research into creating interventions that will assist with these deficits. The integrated intervention of LSVT BIG with drama therapy seeks to improve the quality of life of adults with ASD, as it looks to improve the motor deficits, provides a therapeutic context to address emotional well-being, and also promotes social interactions in a group setting. If found to be effective in improving these motor deficits, this intervention

research may help to influence the creation of more specialized programming for this population, or adapting programs for this population, such as what is suggested by this intervention.

This intervention research may also prove to have a positive influence in the world of drama therapy, as it highlights the adaptability and flexibility of the field, and its holistic approach, placing it at an advantage when compared with other forms of therapy. Drama therapy can stand on its own, but can also be easily integrated with other treatments and can be just as effective when used as a complementary therapy. This intervention is an example of how drama therapy exercises and techniques can be integrated into a physically active exercise program, of all things, and assist with promoting the principles of that program. This intervention also highlights the significant connection between the mind and body, and may help to further educate on the effect that our physicality can have on our mental state, and vice versa. This intervention research seeks to better the lives of a population that is often overlooked, and promote a field that is often overlooked.

Limitations

Some of the data collected that was used to inform the conceptualization of this intervention was based on literature dating more than ten years ago. Literature dating back ten years or more had to be used for this research paper as this subject is under-researched, and so any relevant material, regardless of publishing date, was incorporated. This needs to be acknowledged as information may have changed over the years, or some information may no longer be relevant. As well, this intervention research only looks at three specific core processes of drama therapy, when there are eight in total (Jones, 2007). In reality, all of the core processes are at work in this intervention, and contribute to the experience of the participants and the therapeutic work that they do. The three core processes that were examined were chosen based on their prevalence in the literature, but further benefits, or even limitations, of this intervention may become apparent if the other core processes are examined in this context.

This paper does not identify protective or promotive factors for this population, as it solely examined pairing risk factors with change strategies. Related future research should identify such factors, as this could lead to a reconceptualization of the intervention. This research also does not seek to compare the effectiveness between this integrated LSVT BIG and drama therapy program and only LSVT BIG in improving the motor deficits of adults with ASD. This research assumes, based on an integrative literature review, that an integrated program would be more

effective as it is more holistic, but there may be no difference, or an LSVT BIG program on its own could be more effective.

While this intervention research remains in the theoretical stage, its intention is to inform future research and application of similar programming that will work to address this major gap discovered in the literature, gaining a better understanding of this adult population and finding ways to better service their needs. What is most beneficial for this population is programming that can be easily adapted to their individual needs, which is why drama therapy proved to be a beneficial component of this intervention (Sullivan et al., 2018). Autism spectrum disorder is just that, a "spectrum", meaning each individual has experiences that are unique to them. With the rate of prevalence steadily increasing over the years, ASD needs to be afforded more research and funding so that society can better meet the needs of the population, especially the adult population. Children with ASD grow up to be adults with ASD, and if there continues to be a lack of services for this demographic, then it makes it difficult for these individuals to live the high quality of life that is their right, just as it is for the neurotypical population.

References

- Autism Canada. (2018, August 24). About autism. Retrieved from: https://autismcanada.org/about-autism/
- Autism Ontario. (2019). Building brighter futures fund. Retrieved from:

 https://www.autismontario.com/programs-services/18-and-over/building-brighter-futuresfund
- Bhat, A., Landa, R., & Galloway, J. (2011). Current perspectives on motor functioning in infants, children, and adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Physical Therapy*, 91(7), 1116-1129. Retrieved from: http://o-eds.a.ebscohost.com.mercury.concordia.ca/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=ad4c6ca e-5039-44a0-a5d2-8982356ccf1d%40sdc-v-sessmgr04
- Bishop, J., Nichols, C., McIntire, B., & Block, M. E. (2018). Using the ICF Model to Increase Physical Activity of Young Adults with ASD Residing in Group Homes. *Palaestra*, *32*(4). Retrieved from: http://o-eds.b.ebscohost.com.mercury.concordia.ca/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=9a6294 72-a2c6-4afb-894e-f89166d5a514%40pdc-v-sessmgr03
- Chasen, L. (2014). Engaging mirror neurons to inspire connection and social emotional development in children and teens on the autism spectrum: Theory into practice through drama therapy (2nd ed.). London, UK: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Chesner, A. (1995). *Dramatherapy for people with learning disabilities*. London, UK: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Emunah, R. (1994). *Acting for real: Drama therapy process, technique, and performance*. New York, NY: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Farnell, B. (2003). Kinesthetic sense and dynamically embodied action. *Journal for the Anthropological Study of Human Movement*, *12*(4), 132-144. Retrieved from: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/59a2/ddc4d86f238c6ef509cdbd2c0efae1a76128.pdf
- Fournier, K., Hass, C., Naik, S., Lodha, N., & Cauraugh, J. (2010). Motor coordination in autism spectrum disorders: A synthesis and meta-analysis. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40, 1227-1240. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-0981-3

- Fox, C., Ebersbach, G., Ramig, L., & Sapir, S. (2012). LSVT LOUD and LSVT BIG:

 Behavioural treatment programs for speech and body movement in Parkinson disease.

 Parkinson's Disease, 2012, 1-12. doi:10.1155/2012/391946
- Fraser, M., & Galinsky, M. (2010). Steps in intervention research: Designing and developing social programs. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 20(5), 459-466. doi: 10.1177/1049731509358424
- Gillott, A., & Standen, P. J. (2007). Levels of anxiety and sources of stress in adults with autism. *Journal of intellectual disabilities*, 11(4), 359-370. doi: 10.1177/1744629507083585
- Godfrey, E., & Haythorne, D. (2013). Benefits of dramatherapy for Autism Spectrum Disorder: a qualitative analysis of feedback from parents and teachers of clients attending Roundabout dramatherapy session in schools. *Dramatherapy*, *35*, 20-28. doi: 10.1080/02630672.2013.773131
- Gusé, L. (2016, March 9). Evidence-based physical and occupational therapy treatment (LSVT BIG) [Webinar]. In *LSVT Global*. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GSs8Fu41YrI
- Hamilton, A., Brindley, R., & Frith, U. (2007). Imitation and action understanding in autistic spectrum disorders: How valid is the hypothesis of a deficit in the mirror neuron system? *Neuropsychologia*, 45, 1859-1868. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.11.022
- Happé, F., & Charlton, R. A. (2012). Aging in autism spectrum disorders: A minireview. *Gerontology*, 58(1), 70-78. doi:10.1159/000329720
- Janssens, J., Malfroid, K., Nyffeler, T., Bohlhalter, S., & Vanbellingen, T. (2014). Application of LSVT BIG intervention to address gait, balance, bed mobility, and dexterity in people with Parkinson disease: A case series. *Physical Therapy*, 94(7), 1014-1023. doi:https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130232
- Jones, P. (2007). *Drama as therapy: Theory, practice, and research* (2nd ed.) New York, NY: Routledge.
- Kleinberg, J. L. (Ed.). (2012). *The Wiley-Blackwell handbook of group psychotherapy*. West Sussex, UK: John Wiley & Sons.
- Koch, S. C., & Fuchs, T. (2011). Embodied arts therapies. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, *38*(4), 276-280. doi: 10.1016/j.aip.2011.08.007
- Landy, R. J. (1990). The concept of role in drama therapy. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 17(3), 223-230. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-4556(90)90005-B

- LSVT Global. (2019). *Patients and family*. Retrieved from: https://www.lsvtglobal.com/Patients_Family
- Lubetsky, M., Handen, B., & McGonigle, J. (Eds.). (2011). *Autism Spectrum Disorder*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Mechaeil, R., Graybow, A., & Cobham, P. (2010). Towards a purposeful ending: a study exploring the impact of dramatherapy on the quality of life of people suffering from dementia. *Dramatherapy*, 31(2), 27-34. doi: 10.1080/02630672.2009.9689775
- Milioni, D. (2007). Embodiment and metaphor in Dramatherapy: a discursive approach to the extra-discursive. *Dramatherapy*, 29(3), 3-8. doi: https://doi-org.lib-ezproxy.concordia.ca/10.1080/02630672.2008.9689729
- Modugno, N., Iaconelli, S., Fiorilli, M., Lena, F., Kusch, I., & Mirabella, G. (2010). Active theatre as a complementary therapy for Parkinson's disease rehabilitation: A pilot study. *The Scientific World Journal*, 10, 2301-2313. doi:10.1100/tsw.2010.221
- North American Drama Therapy Association. (2019). *Education and credentialing*. Retrieved from: http://www.nadta.org/.
- Noterdaeme, M., Wriedt, E., & Höhne, C. (2009). Asperger's syndrome and high-functioning autism: language, motor, and cognitive profiles. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 19, 475-481. doi: 10.1007/s00787-009-0057-0
- Ofner, M., Coles, A., Decou, M., Do, M., Bienek, A., Snider, J., & Ugnat, A. (2018). *Autism Spectrum Disorder Among Children and Youth in Canada 2018*. Ottawa, ON: Public Health Agency of Canada.
- Perkins, E. A., & Berkman, K. A. (2012). Into the unknown: Aging with autism spectrum disorders. *American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities*, 117(6), 478-496. doi: 10.1352/1944-7558-117.6.478
- Renty, J., & Roeyers, H. (2006). Quality of life in high-functioning adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 10(5), 511-524. doi:10.1177/1362361306066604
- Rogers, S. J., Cook, I., & Meryl, A. (2005). Imitation and play in autism. *Handbook of autism and pervasive developmental disorders*, *1*, 382-405. Retrieved from: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/4e54/9cc9d2eaee7e480735e006819a30f3a650fa.pdf

- Shattuck, P. T., Roux, A. M., Hudson, L. E., Taylor, J. L., Maenner, M. J., & Trani, J. F. (2012). Services for adults with an autism spectrum disorder. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *57*(5), 284-291. Doi: 10.1177/070674371205700503
- Sicile-Kira, C., and Sicile-Kira, J. (2012). *A full life with autism: From learning to forming relationships to achieving independence*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Starkstein, S., Gellar, S., Parlier, M., Payne, L., & Piven, J. (2015). High rates of parkinsonism in adults with autism. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, 7(29), 1-11. doi: 10.1186/s11689-015-9125-6
- Sullivan, W. F., Diepstra, H., Heng, J., Ally, S., Bradley, E., Casson, I., ... & Abells, D. (2018). Primary care of adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities: 2018 Canadian consensus guidelines. *Canadian Family Physician*, 64(4), 254-279. doi:10.14423/SMJ.0000000000000392
- Torraco, R. J. (2016). Writing integrative literature reviews: Using the past and present to explore the future. *Human Resource Development Review*, *15*(4), 404-428. doi: 10.1177/1534484316671606
- Waite, L. M. (1993). Drama therapy in small groups with the developmentally disabled. *Social Work with Groups*, 16(4), 95-108. https://doi.org/10.1300/J009v16n04_07
- Ward-Wimmer, D. (2003). Introduction: The healing potential of adults at play. In C. E. Schaefer (Ed.), *Play therapy with adults* (pp. 1-11). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Young, J., & Wood, L. (2017). Laban: A guide figure between dance/movement therapy and drama therapy. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, *57*, 11-19. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2017.09.002
- Yuen, H. K., Mueller, K., Mayor, E., & Azuero, A. (2011). Impact of participation in a theatre programme on quality of life among older adults with chronic conditions: A pilot study. *Occupational Therapy International*, 18(4), 201-208. doi: 10.1002/oti.327